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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JASON ABDUSSABUR,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 16-156RBW)

HOPE VILLAGE, INC.,et al,

~_ — e N

Defendant.
)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The plaintiff, Jason Abdus-Sabur, “an individual who lacks any functionality in his lower
extremities[,] hasimited use of his upper extremities, [and] is confined to a wheelclkais{’
Amended Complaint (“Compl.”) T 1, brought this action against the defendants, Hoge Villa
Inc. (“Hope Village”), the Corrections Corporation of America (“CCA”), andBhsrict of
Columbia (the “District”),asserting violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),
42 U.S.C. 88 1213134 (2012), the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, (@@&L2xir
Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601, and the District of Columbia’s Human Rights Act (*Human
Rights Act), D.C. Code § 2-1401.01 (2015), §l3 Currently pending before the Coare
DefendaniCorrections Corporation of America’s Motiom Dismiss Plaintiff's First Amended
Complaint (“CCA’s Mot.”), ECF No. 22, and Defendant Hope Village’s MotmDismiss First
Amended Complaint (“Hope Village’s Mot.”), ECF No. 24, bstelkng dismissal of the First
Amended Complaint pursuant to feedl Ruleof Civil Procedure2(b)(6)(“Rule 12(b)(6)")

Upon careful consideration of the parties’ submissions, and for the reasons that folldauthe

will grantboth theCCA'’s and Hope Village’s motions to dismiss the plaintiff's claims against
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them?
l. BACKGROUND

The following factual background is asserted in the plaintiff's First Amendeapint.

In 2011, the plaintiff, “a quadriplegic who requires a wheelchair to move and live as
independently as possible,” Compl. § 12, was sentenced “to a prison term of seventy (70) months
for a non-violent offense,” and was placedwo Federal Bureau of Priso(88OP”) “fadlities,

first in Rochester, Minnesota, and lateSpringfield Missouri,” id.  13. When the plaintiff
“became eligible for preelease placement anhalfway house” in 2014, “he requested such a
placement . . because he desired to live in a residential neighborhood, where he could adjust to
living with a disability outside of the institutional context, learn to do everydaitses for

himself, and secure a job as well as housinggd’  16. ‘In or prior toAugust 2014, the BOP
referred[the plaintiff for prerelease placement Ebpe Village a halfway house in the District

of Columbia; id. 1 17,that is“a privately-owned corporation that ctacts witti theBOP, id. |

18, “for the last severainonths ofithe plaintiff's] prison term,” id.  17Hope Villageaccepted

the plaintiff for a five month residencyseeid. 11, 17.

“Upon his arrival at Hope Village, [the plaintiff] was assigned to live in one of the
apartment units . . . that was designed to be accessible for people who use wheeldh§i7.
However, the shower in the plaintiff's apartment unit

had an archéctural barrier [that] restrict[ed the plaintiff's] access to the shower

and creat[ed] a substantial risk of injury. That is, the threshold to the shower had

a lip or a short staiike barrier that precluded [the plaintiff] from maneuvering
his wheelchai into the shower so that he could transfer safely from Hisel

! In addition to the filings already identified, the Court considered the folpaitmissions in reaching its
decision: (1) thelaintiff's Points ad Authorities Opposing Motion to Dismiss of Corrections Corporation of
America (“Pl.’'sCCA Opp’n”); (2) Defendant Corrections Corporation of America's Repl§upport of its Motion
to Dismiss (“CCA’s Reply”); (3) thelaintiff's Points and AuthoritieOpposing Hope Village MotiorotDismiss
(“Pl.’s Hope Village Opp’n); and (4) Defendant Hope Villag&eply to Rdintiff's Opposition to Motiond Dismiss
First Amended Complair{t Hope Village'sReply”).



chair to the shower bench.

Id. Because of this architectuttadrrier, the plaintiff “fell on two occasions while transferring
from the shower of his residential unit back into his wtieaak, and required medical treatment
for the injuries he suffered.Id. 1 28. On September 5, 2014, the plaintiff was transferred to the
Correctional Treatment Facility in the southeast quadrant of the DistrictwinG@, wherehe
remained “until January 30, 2015, when he was discharged from custdd$.29.

While at the Correctional Treatment Facility, the plaintiff “was forced to utiliafe
shower and toilet facilities [and] fell on approximately sixteen (16) sepacaasions . . . while
trying to either use the restroom or take a showiel.’f| 36. “After several of his falls, [the
plaintiff] told . . . [the Correctional Treatment Facility] that he would lble &0 shower more
safely if the facility had better equipment, such as a waterproof wheelchdirld. 1 42. The
Correctional Treatment Facility did not provide the requested “reasomaddenmodations so
that [the plaintiff] would not continue to suffer physical injuragsl humiliation” 1d.  43.

OnJanuary 29, 2016, the plaintiff filed a Complaint against Hope Vilthg&;CA, and
the District of Columbia Department of Corrections, alleging disability discrimination
violation of the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, the Fair Housing Act, dZrelHuma Rights Act.

Id. 11 1, 4. On March 2, 2016, each of the defendants moved to dismiss the plaintiff's original
complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(63ee generallfpefendant Hope Village’s Motion to

Dismiss Complaint (Mar. 2, 2016), ECF No. 16; Defendant Corrections Corporation of
America’s Motion to Dismiss (Mar. 2, 2016), ECF No. 13; Defendant Department of
Corrections’ Motion to Dismiss (Mar. 2, 2016), ECF No. 12. In response, on March 21, 2016,
the plaintiff amended his Complaint to include additional allegations against defeQ{@A

and Hope Village, toemo\e the District of Columbia Department of Corrections as a named



defendant, and tassert claims againthe District? Defendants{ope Village andhe CCA now
moveagainto dismiss the plaintiff &irst AmendedComplaintpursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).
. STANDARD OF REVIEW
A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(6)(tests whether the complaint properly “state[s] a
claim upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Rule 8(a) requirekairdy t
complaint provide & short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to
relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)But although “detailed factual allegations” are not required,

Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,

555 (2007)), a plaintiff must provide “more than an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-
harmedme accusation,d. Rather, the “complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to rehet is plausible on its facé.’ld. (quoting Twombly,
550 U.S. at 570)A claim is facially plasible “when the plaintiff pleads factual content that
allows the court to draw [a] reasonable inference that the defendant isdiatiie misconduct
alleged.” Id. A complaint alleging “facts [which] arenerely consistent witha defendant’s
liability . . . ‘stops short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement td relie
Id. (quoting_Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557).

“In evaluating a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the Court must construe the complaint ‘in favor of
the plaintiff, who must be granted the benefit of all inferences that can be deonethé facts

alleged.” Hettinga v. United State§77 F.3d 471, 476 (D.@ir. 2012) (quoting Schuler v.

United States617 F.2d 605, 608 (D.C. Cir. 1979)). However, conclusory allegations are not

2 Because the plaintiff timely amended bisnplaint, and because Hope Village @nelCCA filed separatenotions
to dismiss the lpintiff's First Amended ©@mplaint,the Court will denyHope Villages and CCA’s motions to
dismiss the plaintiff's original@mplaintas moot Additionally, because the plaintiff withdrew his claims against
the Department of Corrections by remuyithe Departmeras anamed defendant in his First Amendedr@plaint,
the Court willalso deny as modhe Department of Corrections’ Motion to Dismiss.
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entitled to an assumption of truth, and even those allegations pleaded with factual sigaport ne
only be accepted insofar as “they plausibly give rise to anemmgttt to relief.”Igbal, 556 U.S.
at 679.
1. ANALYSIS

In moving to dismiss the plaintiffBirst Amended Complaint, defendant CCA argues
thattheplaintiff's ADA, Rehabilitaton Act, and Human Rights Act claims against it should be
dismissedursuant to Rie 12(b)(6)for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.
CCA'’s Mot. at 1. Likewise, defendant Hope Village asserts that the plaintiff's Rehabilitation
Act, Fair Housing Act, and Human Rights Act claims against it should alsorbhesskd for the
same reason. Hope Village’s Mot. at 1. The Court will address each of the defendants
arguments in turn.

A. The Plaintiff's Claims Against the CCA
1. The ADA Claim

The plaintiff predicates his ADA claim againgfdndant CC/Aon Title 1l of the ADA,

which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by any “public enti§eeCompl.

9 78 see alsat2 U.S.C. § 12132 (providingat“no qualified individual with a disability shall,

by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the 9ehtie
services, programsy activities of a public entity). Defendant CCAontendghatthe plaintiff's
ADA claim “must be dismissed as a matter of ldwetause iti§ not a public entity” under Title
Il. CCA’s Mot. at 4.

“To state a claim under Title [lbf the ADA] a plaintiff must allege: (1) that he is a
‘qualified individual with a disability’; (2) who ‘was either excluded from paption in or

denied the benefits of a public entity’s services, programs, or activitiegsootiverwise



discriminated against by the public entity’; and (3) that ‘such exclusion, ddrbahefits, or

discrimination was by reason of his disability.” Lee v. Corr. Corp. of Am./Joeaatment

Facility, 61 F. Supp. 3d 139, 142-43 (D.D.C. 2014) (quofilsgon v. District of Columbia561

F. Supp. 2d 29, 37 (D.D.C. 2008)). In relevant part, the ADA defines “public entitghgs
State or local government,” and “any department, agency, special purginsg, dr other
instrumentality of a State or States or local government.” 42 U.S.C. § 12131(1){AAB,
Title 1l “applies to public entities that are responsible for the operatioranagement of adult
and juvenilgusticejails, detention andasrectional facilities, and community correctional
facilities, either directly or through contractual, licensing, or oth@ngements with public or
private entities, in whole or in part, including private correctional facilitiee& 61 F. Supp. 3d
at 143 (quoting 28 C.F.R. 8§ 35.152(a) (2015)

Here, the plaintiff fails to state a claim under Title 1l of the ADA becauss 4gjrivate
prison company, defendai@CA] is not covered by Title 1l of the ADA.Id. In Lee another
member of this Court dismisseagblaintiff’'s ADA claim alsoagainsthe CCA because the ADA
“provides no indication that a private company is a ‘public entity’ for the purpoSedeofl,”
and “while Title Il of the ADA covers discriminationkiamg place in prisons, private prison
companies are not directly liable for such violationkl. (citations omitted)footnote omitted)
(collecting cased)‘A private contractor does not . . . become liable under Title Il merely by
contracting with th&tate to provide governmental services, essential or otherwise.” (quoting

Edison v. Douberly, 604 F.3d 1307, 1310 (11th Cir. 2010)his member of th Court agrees,

and thereforeseaches the same conclusasithe Court ihee “Because the plaintifin this
casé fails to allege that he waexcluded from participation in or . . . denied the benefits of the

services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or . . . subjected to disdronibg any such



entity,’ the Court will dismiss his ADA claitragainst defendant CCAId. at 144(alteration in
original) (citation omitted)
2. The Rehabilitation Act Claim

Count VII of theFirst Amended Complaint alleges thatfendant CCAviolatedsection
504 of the RRabilitation Act,seeCompl. I 73, which provides that “[n]o otherwise qualified
individual with a disability . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, bedad from
the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any
program or activity receiving Fedéfaancial assistance29 U.S.C. § 794(a)‘Because [the
p]laintiff has not alleged facts which plausibly demonstrate that [it] recédesal financial
assistance . .,” defendant CCA assertlsat the plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act claim against it
“must [also] be dismissed as a matter la®@CA’s Mot. at 6.

The scope o$ection504 of the Rehabilitation Act is limited “to those wactually
‘receive’ federal financial assistance becausenfffess] sought to impoggection]504
coverage as a form of contractual costs of the recipiagtsement to accept the federal funds.”

U.S. Dept of Transp. v. Paralyzed Veterans of Am., 477 U.S. 597, 605 (1986). “Courts

interpreting[section]504 of the Rehabilitation Act have consistently constréedéral financial
assistancdo mean the federal government’s provision of a subsidy to an entity, not thal feder
government’s compensation of an entity for services provideee 61 F. Supp. 3d at 144

(citing Nolley v. Cly. of Erie 776 F. Supp. 715, 742-43 (W.D.N.Y. 1991)). And, “courts should

look to whether the federal entity providing the alleged assistance intended ‘to @ssistance

or merely to compensate.Hunter ex rel. A.H. v. District of Columbia, 64 F. Supp. 3d 158, 172

(D.D.C. 2014)citations omitted).

The plaintiff allegeshat defendant “CCA benefits from a number of government



subsidies, including, but not limited to, Medicare and/or Medicaid payments, tax sionses
and federal, state, or local grants.” Compl. fsEe@ alsad. I 74 (“CCA receives federal
financialassistance in the form of Medicare and Medicaid paymeatsthsidize the treatment
of covered individuals at the facility [and] also receives federal financiatasse to operate
[the Corretional Treatment Facility] . . 7).. However,“Medicare doesot pay for medical
items and services furnished to beneficiaries who are incarceratedustody,” CCA’s Mot. at
5 (citing Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., Medicare Coverage of Items and Servicestadni
to Beneficiaries in Custody Under a Penal Auity 2 (2016) {(Medicare will generally not pay
for medical items and services furnished to a beneficiary who is incacteratecustody under
a penal statute or rule at the time the items and services are furnisteed”)Medicaid does

not pay formedical care for inmatesid. at 6 (citingHealth Coverage for Incarcerated People

HealthCare.gowhttps://www.healthcare.gov/incarcerafeelople/(last visied Nov. 10, 2016)
(“Medicaid worit pay for your medical care while you're in prison or jail.®))And while the
plaintiff disputes defendant CCA'’s claim that it does not receive Medicar®adicaid
paymentsseePl.’s CCA Opp’n at 7 (failing to address the authority profferedddfgndant
CCA and citing onlyto a FloridaOffice of theAttorney GeneralMedicaid FraudControl Unit
Investigation Report providing that, in 2005, CCA paid $298,115 to settle claims that it
improperly billed Medicaid for outside medical services provieidmates in Floridajgs
defendant CCA notes,

even if Medicare or Medicaid payments were somehow improperly made to

3“In determining whether a complaint states a claim, the court may cotisidfacts alleged in the complaint,
documents attached thereto or incorporated therein, and matters of whaghtake judicial notice.’Abhe &
Svoboda, Inc. v. Cha®08 F.3d 1052, 1059 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citation omittediad, “public records and
government documents available from reliable soitd@stroit Int'l Bridge Co. v. Gov't of Canadd 33 F. Supp.
3d 70, 85 (D.D.C. 2015) (citingamilton v. Paulson542 F. Supp. 2d 352 n.15 (D.D.C. 2008)ev’'d on other
grounds 666 F.3d 1344 (D.C. Cir. 2012)), are “amdhg documets ‘subject to juidicial notice on a motion to
dismiss,” Latson v. Holder, 82 F. Supp. 3d 377, 382 (D.D.C. 2015). Therefore, the Cagrfudicialnotice of
these two governmental documents.
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inmates incarcerated gthe Correctional Treatment Facilitybuch payments
would not be made to CCA, which does not provide medical caservices of

any kindto inmates at [the Correctional Treatment Facilibgt would instead go

to Unity Healthcare, which provides all medical care and services to inmates at
[the Correctional Treatment Facilityjursuant to a separate contrbetwea

Unity and the District

CCA'’s Mot. at 6(citing The Performance of Unity Healthcare, Inc. in the District of Columbia

Jail: Joint Hearing Before the Council of the District, Comm. on Health, Comm. on P!y Saf

& the Judiciary(2007) (statement devon Brown Directorof D.C. Dep’t of Corrections}“In

October 2006, the Department of Corrections [entered into] a newly formed partnatship w
Unity Healthcare, Inc., . . . [which] became the sole provider of an extensive andebengve
healthcare continuum for thgstrict’'s inmateswhich includegprimary, specialty, emergency
and hospital carg).

Furthermorealthough defendant CCAéceives federal funds to incarcerat@mand
[United Statedvlarshals Service] inmates at [the Correctional Treatment Facilitygugh its
contractswith these agencie€CA’s Mot. at 5jt “doesnot receive ‘Federal financial assistance’
within the meaning of the Rehabilitation Acas such federal funds aréended to compensate
defendant CCA for its services and tmsubsidize defendant CCRee 61 F. Supp. 3d at 144.
Additionally, as the Court previously noted, the scopgection504is limited to“any program
or activity receiving Ederal financial asstanc¢ 28 U.S.C. § 794(a), in the form of a subsidy
and not merely Aenefctor offederalfunding, whichis what the plaintiff here alleges.
Accordngly, because the plaintiff§t] hreadbare recital[] dhe elements of a cause of action
[undersection504] . . . [and] mere conclusory statements,” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678, that defendant
CCA receives and benefits from federal financial assistdoc®t plausibly give rise to an

entitlement to relief, the Coumtustdismiss the plaintiff’s Rehabilitation Act claim against

defendant CCA.



3. The District of Columbia Human Rights Act Claims

The plaintiffassertghat defendant CCA, which “operates [the Correctional Treatment
Facility] under a contract with [the] District . , violatedsection 21402.67 of] the . . . Human
Rights Act. . . by obtaining a permit, license, franchise, benefit, exemption, or advantage from
[the] government of the District . . . and failing to fully comply with the provisions of the . . .
Human Rights Act.” Compl.  82. In response, defendant CCA argueket@aintiff's
Human Rights Act claim against it must be dismidsechuse the “plaintiff does not allege any
facts showing that [s]ection2402.67 can be enforced against [it],” since it is “a pe\ettity.”
CCA’s Mot. at 7. According to defendant CCA, “the plain language of [s]ection 2-1402.67 . . .
compels the conclusion that an action to enforce its terms would lie, if at all,tabaibsstrict
rather than against [d]efendant CCAd.; seealsoCCA’s Reply at 45.

Section 21402.67 of the Human Rights Act provides,

All permits, licenses, franchises, benefits, exemptions, or advantages issued by o

on behalf of the government of the District ., .shall specifically require and be

condtioned upon full compliance with the provisions of this chapter; and shall

further specify that the failure or refusal to comply with any provision of this

chapter shall be a proper basis for revocation of such permit, license, franchise,

benefit, exemptin, or advantage.
D.C. Code § 2-1402.67.

Whether an action undsection2-1402.67 may be enforced against a private entity
appears to be a question of first impressiothis Circuit as the Court has been unable to
identify other cases that address this questidonethelessthe Court finds the language of

section2-1402.67 to be “plain and unambiguous” and thus, the Court’s “analysis ends with the

text.” Chao v. Day, 436 F.3d 234, 235 (D.C. Cir. 20@&e alsdJnited State®x rel. Totten v.

Bombardier Corp., 380 F.3d 488, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (“[W]hen the statute’s language is plain,

the sole function of the courtsat-least where the dispositioequired by the text is not absurd—

10



is to enforcat according to its terms(fuoting Lamie v. U.STr., 540 U.S. 526, 534 (2004))).

As defendant CCAasnoted, the plain language séction2-1402.67 does not suggésat an
actionbrought pursuant to this section may be enforced against a private entity., Rather
statute’splain language suggests that an action basegdion 21402.67 would be enforceable
only against the Distri¢tas the Districhasboth “a mandatory dutyto incorporate provisions

“in any paticular contract that require[] comptiee with the [HumaRights Act] andalso a
“mandatory obligation, not a discretionary ability to enforce” such provisiotie contract.

Hunter ex rel. A.H., 64 F. Supp. 3d at 182-83. Morem®the Districhasthe sole authority to

issue the “permit([], license[], frechise[], benefit[], exemptidh oradvantagel], the contractual
right to “rewo[ke] [ ] such permit, license, franchise, benefit, exemption, or advantape”
recipient “fail[s] or refus[es] to copty with [the Human Rights Acft],section2-1402.67,
remains with the DistrictAnd, although the “[p]laintiff contends that the expansive language of
[section]2-1402.67 allows enforcement of the [Human Rights Act] against recipients of §cense
permits, benefits and advantages from the Distriit,;5 CCA Opp’n at 8, he fails to cite any
legal authority that supports this proposition or the proposition that the languseion
2-1402.67 should be read as broadly as the plaintiff contends. Accordisgiyning that
section 21402.67 created a privatause of action, because the plain language of section
2-1402.67 would require that an action based on this section be brought against the mistrict a
not a private entity, the Countll dismiss the plaintiff'ssection2-1402.67 claim against
defendanCCA.

B. The Plaintiff’'s Claims Against Hope Village

1. The Rehabilitation Act Claim

Similar to Count VII,Count | of theFirst Amended Complaint alleges tlistfendant

11



Hope Village violated sectiob04 of the Rehabilitation AcseeCompl. T 49, and likdefendant
CCA, defendant Hope Village argues that the plaintiff's Rehabilitation Act cdmjeinst it‘fails
as a matter of law because he has not and cannot allege, much less prove, that&tgpe Vil
receives federal financial assistance or a subsidppetVillage’s Mot. at 3.

As the Court previously noted, secti®®4 of the Rehabilitation Act is limited “to those

who actually‘receive’ federal financial assistanceParalyzed Veterans of Ami77 U.S. at 605.

The plaintiff alleges that Hope Village “receives federal financial assistand subsidies for
programs and services and augments its programming via direct assistanBOR staff.”

Pl.’s Hope Village Opp’n at 6. Therefore, the “[p]laintiff contetitst Hope Village’s motion
raises fact issues not ripe for consideration” because Hope Village'sd’ctis)at issue have
not yet been disclosed, so it is impossible to say (and wholly improper to infer on a Rule 12
motion) that the contracts are pure procurement contracts that do not subsidize poryectrof

Hope Village’s operations, as opposed to paying for services rendddedsée als¢Hunter ex

rel. A.H., 64 F. Supp. 3d at 172 (denyingtionto dismiss the plaintiffs’ Rehabilitation Act

clam against a private homeless shelter because the plaintiffs’ allegations thanleds

shelter “receives federal and District funds for homeless programs, hemgjtmp$,] and other

programs and services” andds receivegdubstantiatecentfederalgrants from [the

Departmerd of Health and Human Services] and [Housing and Urban Development],” in

addition to eDepartment of Health and Human Servicesgulation specifically noting that

grants of funds are federal financial assistance” was sufficient to state aind@msectio®04).
Here, the plaintiff'sspeculativallegations that defendaHbpe Villagereceives

subsidies in its coraicts with the BORhat qualifyas federal financial assistance do not state a

facially plausibleclaim under sectiob04of the Rehabilitation Act The plaintiffstates that

12



“Hope Village contracts with the BOP to provide halfway house placement anetgeation
services|,]” Pl.’s Hope Village Opp’n at 5, and that he “strongly suspectdidtatvery would

show [that Hope Village’s] contracts inatle subsidies” because thestrict of Columbia

Corrections Information Council Report (“Council Report”) 13 (May 24, 2018)ted that the

BOP pays Hope Village approximately $5.5 million annually to house 140 individuals. The two
contracts have per diem rates between $96.67 and $100.09. However, the per diem rates
multiplied by the number of beds yields slightly more than $5 million annu&lys Hope

Village Opp’n at 5 n.2 (citing Council Report at 13Jowe\er, the Council Report nes that the
BOP’s contracts with Hope Village “are performasmesed contracts.” Council Report at 13.
Thus, a mere calculation of “the per diem rates multiplied by the number éivia#d®t equal

the total compensatiatefendantHope Village will reeive under itscontractsas the total
compensatiothat it will receive is derivettom performing he services its contractually

obligated to provide. And the small discrepabeyween thedditional compensation Hope

Village receivedpursuant tats contracs and the calculatedompensationdentified bythe

plaintiff does not plausibly suggest that Congress or the District intended to subsidize defendant

Hope Village SeeWhitev. Bank of America, N.A.,  F. Supp.3d __, _, Noc¥581

(TSC), 2016 WL 4099043, at *7 n.DD.C. Aug. 2, 2016) (“[T]he proper test for distinguishing
‘Federal Financial assistance’ from other payments or transfers is avliethdefendant has
received a subsidy or gifty,dn other words, a payment or transfer for less than fair market
value™ of the services providedinternal citation omitted))

Also, the plaintiff alleges that Hope Village receives federal financialtasses because

“the BOP augments Hope Village’s staffing withd® mental health staff from time to time” and

4 Although this document was not attached to the plaintiff's First AleérComplaint, the Court Wihlso take
judicial notice ofthis document because it is a public record and a government document avaitatderéliable
source. SeesupraPart 111.A.2. at 8 n3.

13



becausdiope Village*has implemented detailed guidelines for the standardized cognitive
behavioral programming [it] is required to offer its residents.” Compl. § 9. hMeCdouncil
Repot relied on by the plaintiff statébat

Hope Village is not contracted to provide medical or mental health services to

residents. Residents with psychological and/or medical diagnoses ardadentif

on the transfer paperwork from the Bureau referringtuteon. Within the first

week of arrival at Hope Village, these residents are sent to Unity Health Care for

an initial medical assessment and then referral for treatment.
Council Report at 32—33 (discussing the various community provideretdé¢mnts at Hope
Village are reffered to for medical and mental health treatment). And “oigggtandardized
cognitive behavior programming required by Department of Justice guidelihés Fiépe
Village Opp’n at 5, desnotconceivablyindicate thatlefendantope Village receives a subsidy
gualifying as federal financial assistancedompliance with implementinthe required
programming, let alone any additional payment above the compenisatoeivesor the
services it provides. Accordingly, teuse the plaintiffshreadbarallegations thatlefendant
Hope Village receives federal financial assistameygondits contractual congnsatior'stop(]
short of the line between possibility and plausibility of entitlement of rélighal, 556 U.S. at
678 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted), the Court cisistiss the plaintiff's
Rehabilitation Act claim againsiefendantHope Village.

2. The Fair Housing Act Claims

Counts Il and 11l of thé=irst Amended Complairdssert that defendant Hope Village
violated 88 3604 (c) and (), (2), and (3)(Bpf the Rair Housing Act SeeCompl 11 53-63.
DefendantHope Village contends that dismissal of the plaintiff’'s Fair Housing Act claims

against itis requiredbecause the plaintiff failed to “allege that he was in a landkment

relationship with Hope Village,” Hope Village’'s Mot. at&, and “because Hope Village is not a

14



‘dwelling’ as defined by the Fair Housing Actd. at 7.

Section3604(c) makes it unlawfdf tjo make, print, or publish, or cause to be made,
printed, or published . . . any .statement . .,.with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling
that indicates any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on . . . handicap . . ., or an
intentionto make any such preference, limitation, or disgcration.” 42 U.S.C. § 36@4).
Additionally, § 3604 (f)(1) and (3)rohibit discrimination either “in the sale or rental, or to
otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any buyer or renteajainst any peos in
the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the iprovisservices
or facilities in connection with such dwelling, because of a handicaB604 (f)(1)}2). Under
§ 3604, “dscrimination includes . .a refusako make reasonable accommodations in rules,
policies, practices, or servigeghen such accommodations may be necessary to afford such
person equal opportunity tese andcenjoy a dwelling.” 8§ 3604 (f)(3)(B). Althoudft]he

Supreme Court has emphasized that the language of the [Fair Housing Bietht and

inclusive,” and must be given a ‘generous construction,” Hunter ex rel. A. H., 64 F. Supp. 3d at

173 (quotingTrafficante v. Metro. Life Ins. Cp409 U.S. 205, 209 (1972)), the statutory

languages clear that “[b]oth sections require that the discriminatiocur in connection with
the ‘sale or retal of a dwelling;” id. at 176.

The Fair Housing Act defines a “dwellifign relevant partas “any building, structure,
or portion thereof which is occupied as, or designed or intended for occupancy mkeraesisy
one or more families.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 3602(b). Although the Fair Housing Act does not define
“residence[, m]ost courts that have considered the scope of the term have rdtiedi@nition

used inUnited States v. Hughes Memorkabme 396 F. Supp. 544 (W.D. Va. 1975), which is ‘a

temporary or permanent dwelling place, abode or habitation to which one intendsrt@setur
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distinguished from the place of temporary sojourn or trahsisit.” Hunterex rel. A.H, 64 F.

Supp. 3d at 174 (quotirtgughes Mem’l Homge396 F. Supp. at 549).

There does not appear to be a case in this Circuit that has addressed whetharya half
house for incarcerated federal offenders in the District is a “dwellorgddrposes of the Fair
Housing Act. Although no such guidance exist, the Court concludekidipe Village
considered from the perspective of how it operates, is a “temporary . . . dwelling pldoce
which [residents of Hope Village] intend[] to return,” id., and therefore, it is a fohg&ithin
the maning of the Fair Housing Act. diendant Hope Village argues that, as a community

confinement facility, it is akin to a jail, whiclinder Garcia v. Condarco, 114 F. Supp. 2d 1158,

1163 (D.N.M. 2000)is not a “dwelling” within the meaning of the Fair Housing Act. Hope

Village’s Mot. at 7 However,“a community corrections facility is not a jail.”_United States

Jones, 752 F.3d 1039, 1042 (5th Cir. 20%4E alsdJnited Statey. Voda, 994 F.2d 149, 152

(5th Cir. 1993) fioting that the term “‘community corrections facility’ appearseter to
rehabilitations facilities and halfay houses . . . and not jails” based on its placement in the
United States Sentencing Guidelines). Moreover, alththgplaintiff remained in thBOP’s
custody and control during his stayHpe Villageard “[h]is freedom of movement was
restricted and monitored,” he had authorization to verftutside the halfwayouse to access
counseling andr employment services in the community.” Hope Village’s Mot. g&8;

United States v. Chavez, 204 F.3d 1305, 1315 (11th Cir. 2000) (“We have previously held that

confinement to a halfway house at night with the requirement that a defendant wyok at a
seek employment during the day is a liberty ‘markedly different from diadtmcarceration in a
penitentary.” (citations omitted)).Therefore, becaudeope Village is aesidential reentry

center or halfway house that provides “halfway hqulaeement and reintegration services for
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federal offenders,” Compl. § See alsad. 11 26-25 (“Residents at Hopeilage are responsible
for their own medical care and can travel within the community via public or private
transportation for necessary medical carfR]ésidentof Hope Village utilize both public and
private transportation to attend religious services at their desired housesluplydResidents
of Hope Village are permitted to bring personal belongings into Hope Village’“When
appropriate, residents of Hope Village nstgy after the end of their sentence terms in order to
avoid homelessness.”), the Court concludes that Hope Village is a “dwellitigh the
meaning of the Fair Housing Act.

Notwithstanding the Court’s finding that Hope Village is a “dwellingtiagined in the
Fair Housing Actthe plaintiff has failed to sufficiently allegeclaim under 8 360decause the
statuory language “seems to limit the scope of unlawful discrimination to the entitygoar

renting the dwelling in question.Hunter exrel. A.H., 64 F. Supp. 3d at 177Tn its motion to

dismiss, defendant Hope Village argues that § 36@4“ not implicated because the plaintiff
did not “rent[] space at Hope Village” and that dismissal of the plaintiff sHairsing Act
claims is warrantetlecause the plaintiff [@d] not allege a landlortenant relationship to
support” his 8 3604 claims. Hope Village’'s Reply agé&e alsdHope Village’'s Mot. at 5-6.
However in his opposition to defendaHbpe Village’smotion to dismiss, the plaintiff fadeto
address this argument, and therefore, the Court may treat defendant HopesVulteition

regarding the plaintiff's Fair Housing Act claims as concedgee, e.gHopkins v. Women'’s

Div., Gen. Bd. of Glob. Mirstries 284 F. Supp. 2d 15, 25 (D.D.C. 2003) (Walton, J.) (“It is well

understood in this Circuit that when a plaintiff files an opposition to a dispositive motion and
addresses only certain arguments raised by the defendant, a court may tecatgiho®ers that

the plaintifffailed to addres as conceded.” (citations omitte@yf:d 98 F. App’x 8 (D.C. Cir.
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2004).
Nonetheless, even construing the Fair Housing Act

as broadly as possible, the clear language of the statute restricts thefclass
peoplewho can bring a claim under [§] 36041) to a ‘buyer or renter,’ or, at its
broadest, individuals who were otherwise denied the opportunity to become a
buyer or renter. There is no such allegation that the [plaintiff] fall[s] iith@re
category.

Hunter ex rel. A. H. 64 F. Supp. 3d at 1{8ismissing the plaintiff § 3604(f)(1)claim because

they “failed to sufficiently allege that the District or [tfeglerallyfundedhomeless shelter]
discriminated against them as ‘buyers or renters@gid. at 177 (“[T]he ‘renters are the federal
agencies that provide funds to [the d]efendants, not the [p]laintifi&ri}l the plaintiffis
certainlynotabuyer or renter at Hope Village because the individwals resideat “Hope

Village are offenders with geferral from the BP[, which] has the authority to place [federal]

inmates at the Hope Village correctional facility.” Hope Village’s Mot. &e@;alsd8 U.S.C.

8 3624(c)(1) (2012) (“The Director of the Bureau of Prisons shall, to the exteticginées,

ensure that a prisoner serving a term of imprisonment spends a portion of the finalohtmhs
term (not to exceed [twelve@ponths), under conditions that will afford that prisoner a reasonable
opportunity to adjust to and prepare for the reentry of that prisoner into the community. Such
conditions may include a community correctional facility Accordingly,because the plaintiff
failed toaddresdHope Village’s argument that the plaintifas notin a “landlordtenant
relationship” with Hope Villageand because the plaintifis a federal inmatghen he resided

there,did not fall into the class ddither a “buyer or rentef as required under § 3604 of the Fair

5 In Hunter ex rel. A.H., the district court concluded that the plaintiffedtatclaim under § 3604(f)(2) because they
“alleged that they were discriminated againsthe provision of services facilities that appropriately
accommodated [the plaintiff's daughter's] handi¢@md that the homeless shelter “receive[d] consideration for a
resident’s stay-whether it be from federal or other funding directed to subsidizing the abgroviding lousing to
the homeless.’64 F. Supp. 3d &t77. Although the plaintiff here alleges that he was discriminated agaitiet i
(continued . . .)
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Housing Act, the Court muslismiss the plaintiff's Fair Housing Act claims agaidetendant
Hope Village.
3. The District of Columbia Human Rights Act® Claims
a. The Section2-1402.21(a)(5) and (dlaims
Counts IV and \of theFirst Amended Complairdllege that defendant Hope Village
violatedsection2-1402.21(a)(5) and (d) of the Human Rights AeeGompl. 11 64-69, which
“makes discrimination associated with the sale or rental of a dwelling unlawéwgnage that

parallels the analogous provision of the [Fair Housing Adtjunter ex rel. A.H., 64 F. Supp. 3d

at 178-79. Defendant Hope Village contends tiha plaintiff's claims under section
2-1402.21(a)(5) and (dikewisefail for the same reasons that his Fair Housing Act claims fail
thatis, because Hope Village not a “dwelling” andhe plaintiff has not allegeitiat he was in a
landlordtenant relationship with Hope Villagédope Village's Mot. at 57.

“District of Columbia courts interpreting tiguman Rights Act] have generajl looked
[for guidance] tacases from the federal courtsising under federal civil rights statutes.

Whitbeck v. Vital Signs, Inc., 116 F.3d 588, 591 (D Cir. 1997)(alteration in original)

(quotingBenefits Comm’'n Corp. v. Klieforth, 642 A.2d 1299, 1301-02 (D.C. 1994¢e also

Paralyzed Veterans of Am. v. Ellerbe Becket Architects & Endp.C., 950 F. Supp. 393, 405

(D.D.C.1996) (“The D.C. courts have always looked to cases from the federal courts in

(.. . continued)

provisionof services ofacilities at Hope VillageseeCompl. § 54 he does not plausibly allege that Hope Village
receives subsidies as federal financial assistasche Court previously discussedesupraPart 111.B.1

Therefore, the Court will also dismiss the plaintiff's Fair Hagshct claim under § 3604(f)(2) against Hope
Village.

51n its motion, defendant Hope Village argtleat the plaintiff's Human Rights Act claims were untimely filed
because¢he one year statute of limitations for such clairad expired SeeHope Village’s Mot. at 10. However, in
response to plaintiff's opposition to its motiatefendahHope Village “concede[d] that the [plaintiff's Human
Rights Act] claims are timely brought for the purposeftsf Rule 12(b)(6) motiof] . . . [but] reserve[d] its right

to raise this issue again at the summary judgrstage if any of the claims survifigs] motion[to dismiss]and
discovery discloses a basis for raising a statute of limitations challeRigge Village’s Reply at 7Therefore the
Court will not address the issue of whether the plaintiff's HumahtRiAct claims were timely filed at tHiigne.
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interpreting the D.C. Humanights Act, and have followed, wherever applicable, precedents
from the federal courtstreatment of camparable civil rights statute$.” Accordingly, although
the Court findghat Hope Village is likewise a “dwelliiginder the Human Rights Adee
supraPart 111.B.2,the Court mustlismiss the plaintiff' section2-1402.21(a)(5) and (d) Human
Rights Act claimdecause the plaintifhiled to respond to defendadbpe Village’'s argument
that the plaintiff was not in a “landloitgénant” relationship with bipe Village, and because the
plaintiff, as a federal inmate at that tindeg not fall into the category of adlyer or renter” at
Hope Village
b. The Section 21402.31 Claim

Through Count VI, the plaintiff asserts that defendémpe Village violated section
2-1402.31 of the Human Rights Act by denying him “the full and equal enjoyment of service
facilities, andaccommodations of a halfway house that is a place of public accommodation.”

Compl. § 71see alsd®.C. Code 8§ 2-1402.31(a)(1Arguing thatit “is not a ‘place of public

accommodation,” defendant Hope Village contetiad “dismissal of Count VI is justified.”
Hope Village’s Mot. at 9.

“Section 21401.02(24) of the [Human Rights Act] defines places of public
accomnodation asall places included in the eaning of’ a long list of terms.Hunter ex rel
A.H., 64 F. Supp. 3d at 180 (citing D.C. Code § 2-1401.02(24)). And, although “[t]he term
‘place of public accommodation’ is defined ‘broadly’ under the [Human Rights AlKkin v.

Gray, 895 F. Supp. 2d 199, 217 n.16 (D.D.C. 2012) (citing Blodgett v. Univ. Club, 930 A.2d

210, 218 (D.C. 2007,)aff'd, 650 F. App’x 42 (D.C. Cir. 2016), the term does “not include any
institution . . . or place of accommodation which is in its nature distinctly pyivate

§ 2-1401.02(24).
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Hope Village is not &place ofpublic accommodation” as defined in the Human Rights
Act, and theredre, the Court must dismiss the plaintiff's claim under se@idd02.31. Tere
does not appear to be a case in thisult that addresses whether a halfway house that serves
as a reentry center for federal inmates is a place of public accommaakatiefinedunder
section2-1402.02(24). Even so, to support his position that Hope Village, a halfway house for
inmates in the Districis a “place of public accommodation,” the plaintiff reliesH@rnandez

v. County of Monterey, 70 F. Supp. 3d 963NCal 2014), where the district court that

case concludethata privateoperator of medical facilitiel®cated in a county jail “operate[d]
. .. a place of publiaccommodatiomior purposes of Title 11" of the ADA.Seeid. at 977.
However, the @intiff's reliance on Hernandeag of no avail beause the alleged
discriminatory act®y the privatenedicaloperator allegedly occurred in the county jail,
place that hadlreadybeen determined to be a “place of public accommodatimh.&t 978

(citing Wilkins-Jones v. Cty. fdAlameda 859 F. Supp. 2d 1039, 1049 (N.D. Cal. 2018)t(“

is reasonabl& consider a jail a public place in the context of inmates’ rights to be fi@e fro
discrimination on the basis of their disabilities. While the general public is not permitted
inside a jail at any given time, the government has the power to compel memhberpublic

to a jail under certain circumstances. [A] jail is more like schools and hospitals
contemplated under the ADA, which also riestpublic access in certain times and
circumstances but are nonetheless designed and intended to provide services, goedssprivil
and advantages to members of the public.”)). Here, the alleged discriminatory conduct
occurred at a “privatetpwned entity . . . kown as a halfway house facilityCompl. 1 9,

located beyond the walls of a government operated detention facility, unlikeutdigositin

Hernandezsee70 F. Supp. 3d at 977.
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Moreover, the Court finds the rationale provided in Veddnited StatesNo.

C11-632-RSM, 2012 WL 5384735, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 1, 2012), vacated in part on

reconsideration?013 WL 1333978, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 1, 2013), although not binding on

the Court, to be particularly instructive. Wiegg the distri¢ court concluded tha{r]esidential
reentry centers are notably distinctly private, as absent a criminal semtemsbers of the
public cannot get accommodation in such facilitiegéga 2012 WL 5384735, at *12ee
alsoHope Village's Reply at 7 (“Téfacility is not offered for rent to the public, and no one
from the general public can come to stay at Hope Village or access any ofiteséy.
Additionally, “re-entry centers such as [Hope Village] do not as a generalecofibusiness
provide goods oservices to the general publid/ega 2012 WL 5384735, at *12, and the
plaintiff does not allege that Hope Village provides goods or services to thalgaungic,see
Compl. 1 9 (stating that Hope Village “provide[s] halfway house placement iatelgration
services for fderal offenders in the District”YConsequently, the Court finds that Hope
Village is a private facilitynot accessible to the general public #retefae not a place of
public accommodation. Accordingly, the Court mdisimiss the plaintiff section2-1402.31
claim againstlefendant Hope Village.
V. CONCLUSION
Forall of theforegoingreasonstheCourt grang defendants CCA’s and Hope Village’s
motions to dismiss the plaintiffdaims against thempursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).
SO ORDEREDthis 22ndday ofDecenber, 2016’

REGGIE B. WALTON
United States District Judge

7 An Order consistent with this Memorandum Opiniors&su@ simultaneously with this opinion
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